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 Request for Proposals (“RFP”):   Date: March 6, 2024 
Pier A Construction Management Services 

Addendum #1 
# of Pages:   16 

A) RFP REVISIONS:
The following Exhibit materials are hereby incorporated into the RFP:
• Exhibit A-1 has been revised with added language, and is appended hereto as Attachment

#1. The added language is yellow-highlighted.
• Exhibit B-1 is supplemented by the information appended hereto as Attachment #2A.
• Exhibit B-2 is supplemented by the information appended hereto as Attachment #2B.
• Exhibit B-3 is supplemented by the information appended hereto as Attachment #2C.
• Exhibit E-3: Form of Bid Breakdown for Diving Inspections, appended as Attachment #3, has

been added to the RFP and must be completed and submitted as part of each bidder’s Cost
Proposal, as detailed in Section V(D) of the RFP.

B) PROVISION OF SUPPLEMENTAL DOCUMENTS:
The following documents associated with the Pier A CM Project RFP are hereby attached:
• The February 20, 2024 Pre-Proposal Meeting attendee list – including the names and

contact information of individual attendees, and the respective names of their firms
(collectively, the “Pre-Proposal Attendees”) – is appended hereto as Attachment #4A.

• The February 20, 2024 Site Walkthrough attendee list – including the names and contact
information of individual attendees, and the respective names of their firms – is appended
hereto as Attachment #4B.

C) BPCA’S RESPONSE TO SUBSTANTIVE QUESTIONS:
The following responses are provided to substantive questions received by Battery Park City
Authority (“BPCA”) by February 27, 2024, in connection with this RFP. The Responses are
provided in bold, italicized print immediately following the Questions. Please note that all
capitalized terms shall have the same definitions as provided in the RFP.

1. Can you advise if [a firm] is able to submit a proposal even if [it] missed the mandatory
walk-through?

Yes, but attendance at the Project Site walkthrough will be considered by the evaluation
committee.

2. Are the allowable loading conditions for the Pier A esplanade currently able to accept Sea
Container’s/Storage etc. for contractors’ mobilization needs?

Loading conditions will have to be coordinated with multiple contractors throughout the 
Project based on this Pier A load diagram:

[NO FURTHER TEXT ON THIS PAGE, APART FROM FOOTER NOTE; DIAGRAM ON NEXT PAGE] 



Distributed to: All prospective Proposers 
Page 2 of 13 

3. Are the contractors for each project aware of the activity that will occur within the Pier A
plaza due to the ongoing Resiliency project? If so, have they bid to any stated restrictions
regarding parking, equipment storage, material storage, etc.

Yes – coordination of all site access and labor harmony is the responsibility of the Pier A
Construction Projects’ Contractors (the “Contractors”).

4. Will the CM require underwater inspections as part of their scope? If so, can a quantity be
established for proper fee pricing? IE: 1 day/week? 2 days/week?

Yes, the selected Proposer (the “CM”) will be required to perform underwater
inspections as part of the Project’s scope. See the revised Exhibit A-1 and the newly
added Exhibit E-3 (as noted in A. - RFP Revisions, above) for the added scope item and
for the requested cost breakdown associated with the pile inspection tasks, respectively.

5. What is the construction value for each contract?

Construction values have been added to the respective exhibits of the RFP. See
Attachments #2A, 2B, and 2C, as noted in A. - Revisions to RFP (above).

6. Will there be office space for the CM inside the Pier A building?

BPCA will provide office space for the CM – either in Pier A or nearby at 200 Rector Place.

7. Can a schedule be provided indicating the construction start and completion for each
contract?

The anticipated start and completion dates of the Pier A Construction Projects have been
added to the respective exhibits of the RFP.  See Attachments #2A, 2B, and 2C, as noted
in A. - Revisions to RFP (above).

8. Are all regulatory permits in place for the pile contract?

Securing of the necessary permits for the Pier A Structural Repairs – Phase II Project is
in progress. Such permits will be shared with the CM upon Contract award.
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9. Can we assume a May 1 start to the CM contract?

Yes, however BPCA reserves all rights specified in Section III of the RFP.

10. Are the 3 contractors aware that a CM firm will be managing their contracts for BPCA?

Yes.

11. RFP, PDF pages 8-9: Are the Commercial General Liability Insurance limits for Proposer
correct in Section VII Insurance Requirements Subsection B at $6M/occurrence and
$7M/aggregate? The limits are not typical and do not flow down to Subconsultants in
Subsection C where limits are set lower at $1M/occurrence and $2M/aggregate. Is this in
error? The Model Consultant Agreement (PDF page 334) Article 10, Section g states
Consultant and Subconsultant Commercial General Liability is $1M/occurrence and
$2M/aggregate.

The insurance limits in Section VII of the RFP are correct. The limits in Exhibit D:
Standard Form of Contract should be disregarded. Please note Section VII. C. states that
“Subconsultants will also be required to obtain all other insurances listed in Section VII.
B. (above), unless otherwise approved in writing by BPCA prior to commencement of any
Subcontractor’s work.”

12. Is diving or in-water inspection the responsibility of the Proposer, and if so, will it be an
allowance to be included in the cost proposal?

See the response to Question #4, above.

13. Will there be space available within the Pier A building for the Consultant to use as a field
office space?

See response to Question #6, above.

14. The pier’s projected schedule is within the RFP. Are there construction schedules for the
window/door and railing contracts?

See response to Question #7, above.

15. Please confirm that the construction contract for the railing has started and is currently in the
submittal phase while the anticipated construction contract starts for the pier and
door/windows are anticipate to start April 2024.

Yes, the Pier A Railings Project contractor mobilized during the week of March 4, 2024.

16. Can an extension on the proposal due date be considered?

No – due to project-related time constraints, an extension of the Proposals due date is not
possible.

17. What are the qualification requirements for the key personnel?

There are no particular qualification requirements for key personnel; BPCA’s expectation
is that the Project will be staffed appropriately and in an economical way in order to
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oversee the concurrent construction work. 

18. Please provide a cost estimate and budget breakdown for all three projects.

See response to Question #5, above. A cost breakdown for the three (3) Pier A Construction
Projects will be provided to the selected CM following Contract award.

19. Is there a budget limit for the CM contract?

Please budget according to your proposed staffing.

20. What is the expected start and completion date for each project? Any other specific
milestones or sequence requirements?

See response to Question #7, above.

21. Are there any site specific challenges or restrictions (access issues, environmental concerns,
working hours)?

See the response to Questions #2 and #3, above.

22. Are there any historical preservation requirements that could affect the window and door
replacement process and cost?

No, there are no such requirements.

23. Is the landmark preservation commission application submitted and approved?

No, this isn’t required.

24. Is there a geotechnical report available for the structural repair project?
Geotechnical information about the Pier A Structural Repairs Project will be provided to 
the CM upon Contract award.

25. Is commissioning required for this project. Shall we include this in the CM fee?

No, this isn’t required.

26. Is the CM required to hire third party inspection and special inspection firms?

Yes, but only for Pier A Structural Repairs Project.

27. Does the contract require Prevailing Wage for divers?

Yes.

28. Please advise regarding the Reimbursable Expenses in accordance with Exhibit A-1?

Please provide an estimate for reimbursable expenses as requested in the RFP’s Exhibit
E-1.

29. Can an overall schedule separated by scope of work (Marine / Railing / Doors & Windows)
be provided to understand project durations?
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See response to Question #7, above. 

30. Can the actual or estimated Contract values of each trade (Marine / Railing / Doors &
Windows) be provided to understand overall budget of the project?

See response to Question #5, above.

31. Please confirm BPCA is holding trade contracts for the three scopes of work.

Yes, BPCA will be in direct contract with the three (3) Construction Project contractors.

32. Will field office space be provided within Pier A?

See response to Question #6, above.

33. Can BPCA provide the names of the awarded Trade Contractors on the project?

The names of the Contractors will be provided to the CM upon Contract award.

34. Will a staging area be provided in the vicinity of Pier A to store Material for Windows /Doors
Scope and Railing Scope?

An on-site staging area will be considered for the Pier A Windows & Doors Project. The
repairs associated with the Pier A Railings Project will occur off-site.

35. What Permits will be needed for all scopes of work?

BPCA will be responsible for securing all permits needed for the Pier A Construction
Projects.

By signing the line below, I am acknowledging that all pages of this Addendum #1 have been 
received, reviewed, and understood, and will be incorporated into the Proposal submitted. This 
document must be attached to the Proposal for consideration. 

____________________        ___________________________  _________________ 
Print Name (Above)    Signature (Above) Date (Above) 

Number of pages received:  <fill in>  
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ATTACHMENT #1 
EXHIBIT A-1:  

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT SCOPE OF WORK 
(REVISED) 

OVERVIEW 

The selected Proposer will provide CM Services for three (3) discrete construction projects, each with 
separate designers and contractors (individually, a “Construction Project” and collectively, the 
“Construction Projects”) to be completed within the same overall Project Site at Pier A. The Construction 
Projects are in various phases of pre-construction planning and construction commencement but are 
anticipated to be performed concurrently over the Contract term. In addition, the Construction Projects 
will be performed adjacent to, and in some limited instances overlapping, the construction site for 
BPCA’s South Battery Park City Resiliency Project (the “SBPCR Project”); consequently, site access 
must be coordinated with the SBPCR Project’s construction manager, LiRo Program & Construction 
Management (“LiRo”). 

Scopes of work for each Construction Project are attached as Exhibit A-2. 

PROJECT CURRENT PHASE 
Pier A Windows and Doors Restoration, 

Repair and Replacement 
Construction Contract Bidding / Procurement 

Phase in Process 
Pier A Railing Restoration / Rehabilitation Construction Project Awarded, Early Stages of 

Construction Underway 
Pier A Structural Repairs – Phase II Construction Contract Award Underway 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

A. General Responsibilities 

The responsibilities of the selected Proposer will generally include overseeing and managing work 
performed by the Construction Projects’ general contractors (the “General Contractors”), each of which 
will be retained under separate contracts with BPCA. The Construction Projects' construction work will 
be performed in accordance with the respective Project drawings and specifications (collectively, the 
“Drawings & Specifications”) prepared by the Construction Projects’ architects/engineers (collectively, 
the “Architects/Engineers”), which are attached hereto as part of Exhibit B. The Pier A Structural Repairs 
Project schedule, which is currently available (the schedules for the other Construction Projects aren’t 
currently available), is attached hereto as part of Exhibit B-3. 

The selected Proposer shall provide full construction management services throughout all phases of the 
Construction Projects, including pre-construction (where applicable), construction, and post-
construction/close-out. The CM Services shall include, but are not limited to: constructability reviews, 
contracting assistance, overall management of the Construction Projects, coordination of the General 
Contractors and their work, and office engineering and construction inspection services. Specifically, the 
selected Proposer shall perform the following tasks, among others:  

1. Monitor performance of ongoing work associated with the three (3) Construction Projects and their
completion by the General Contractors and any Specialty Contractors (as defined in Section B below), all 
within the footprint of the Project Site –with quality of workmanship and strict adherence to the 
Construction Projects’ schedules and budgets being of critical importance. The selected Proposer shall 
work with the Architects/Engineers to facilitate the completion of all construction in a carefully 
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coordinated fashion, in accordance with these standards. Consideration must be given to Construction 
Project logistics including, but not limited to: phasing and sequencing, weather factors, workforce 
requirements, and staging.  

2. Coordinate work between the Construction Projects, prepare an overall coordinated Construction
Project schedule, and review/track contractor Critical Path Method (“CPM”) schedule. 

3. Manage the overall Construction Project schedule, including pre-construction (where applicable) and
construction milestone dates. 

4. Collect and review all information pertaining to the Project Site and its immediate surroundings, to
become familiar with any factors that could interfere with, or affect, the construction progress or 
pedestrian access.  

5. Coordinate in advance with LiRo and the SBPCR Project team, as may be necessary and desirable, to
facilitate access to the Project Site for the performance of the Construction Project work and for overall 
matters of work staging and coordination.  

6. Oversee all financial aspects of the Construction Projects including, but not limited to: budgets, cost
estimates, change orders, pay applications, and financial reporting (as specified herein). 

7. Ensure that all work performed on the Construction Projects adheres to all relevant codes and all Local,
City, State, and Federal regulations and guidelines. 

B. Pre-Construction Responsibilities (Where Applicable) 

1. The selected Proposer shall assist BPCA with questions or issues relating to the General Contractors’
contracts or scopes of work, and any additional consultants or construction firms (“Specialty 
Contractors”) necessary to complete the Construction Projects. 

2. The selected Proposer shall, at BPCA’s request, assist in all aspects of the selection of Specialty
Contractors (if any), or any replacement of the General Contractors (if necessary), including but not 
limited to assisting in the preparation or refinement of work scopes and proposal requests, proposal 
review and comparison, attendance at related meetings, responding to contractor questions, evaluation of 
proposer qualifications and reference review, and review and recommendation of proposals or quotes.  

3. The selected Proposer shall familiarize itself with the Project Site’s access points and space constraints,
to facilitate performance and completion of the Construction Projects with the fewest possible impacts to 
the  surrounding areas, public convenience, and the community in general. The selected Proposer shall 
review and approve the General Contractors’ logistics plans before submitting them to BPCA for 
approval and shall monitor construction activities to verify conformance with the approved logistics 
plans. 

C. Responsibilities throughout Construction 

1. The selected Proposer shall monitor and oversee the Construction Projects and the work of the General
Contractors – and ensure that the Construction Projects are completed in accordance with the Drawings 
and Specifications, and in accordance with BPCA’s objectives, budgets, schedules, and specified quality 
standards. The selected Proposer shall coordinate with the General Contractors to perform the work with 
minimal disruption to the community and general public, including minimal disruption to the areas 
(public and private) adjacent to the Project site. The selected Proposer will closely monitor and ensure 
that the General Contractors fulfill their contractual obligations with respect to labor harmony at and 
within the Project Site. 
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2. Before construction commences, the selected Proposer is responsible for developing, implementing,
and submitting for approval by BPCA, CM procedures for managing the execution of the Construction 
Projects. This shall include, but not be limited to, general and special conditions, project directory, 
submittal processing procedures, tracking logs (for all Construction Project costs, submittals, plan & 
specification changes, change orders, etc.), daily logs and field reports, Project management reports, 
Project summary reports, meeting minutes, change order requests, requisitions, and site access 
procedures.  

3. The selected Proposer is responsible for monitoring on-site work related to the Construction Projects
during the pre-construction phase, where applicable, and for coordination of site access in accordance 
with BPCA’s directives.  

4. For the duration of the Project while public access to the Project Site is restricted, the selected Proposer
will ensure that the General Contractors maintain adequate fencing, barricades, signage, and safety 
precautions for the protection of the general public.  

5. The selected Proposer shall be responsible for working with the Architects/Engineers and arranging
meetings with Specialty Contractors, equipment manufacturers and industry specialists in order to assist 
in the selection of technically viable solutions, determine the availability of material, and develop and 
prepare associated cost estimates.  

6. The selected Proposer shall provide cost estimating services to BPCA to verify the construction budget
and evaluate contractors’ prices, unit costs and change orders. 

7. The selected Proposer shall track the disposition of all General Contractor submittals including general
requirements (bonds, insurance, etc.) schedule, procedures, materials, shop drawings, sub-contractor and 
supplier qualification submittals in accordance with the Drawings and Specifications.  
8. The selected Proposer shall review and approve the General Contractors’ payment applications before
they are submitted to BPCA for approval and payment, and shall promptly advise BPCA whether those 
payment applications are complete and accurately reflect work satisfactorily completed and are consistent 
with the terms of the contracted work. If necessary, the selected Proposer shall coordinate with the 
General Contractors to revise payment applications before they are submitted to BPCA.  

9. The selected Proposer shall review and track the General Contractors’ CPM schedules for conformance
with contractual milestones and shall promptly notify BPCA and the General Contractors of any actual or 
anticipated failure to adhere to the CPM schedule. If the General Contractors propose changes to the 
schedule, the selected Proposer shall review the proposed changes, recommend approval or denial of the 
revised schedule and, if approved, track the revised schedule and adjust its inspection schedule and 
staffing accordingly. The selected Proposer shall be prepared to review the General Contractors’ proposed 
schedules in detail at the construction kickoff meetings.  

10. The selected Proposer shall review and evaluate all requests for change orders, a) making a
determination regarding the validity of the change order request, b) estimating and conducting 
negotiations with the General Contractors regarding the amounts of the change order requests, and c) 
providing written recommendations in a form acceptable to BPCA, with complete and appropriate backup 
and substantiation, for acceptance or rejection of such change order proposals.  

11. BPCA shall review and approve the General Contractors’ trade payment breakdowns.

12. The selected Proposer shall provide a total of six (6) underwater inspections of timber pile wrapping
work – with an estimated two (2) such inspections per week – during the timber pile wrapping portion of 
the Pier A Structural Repairs Project. Underwater inspections of the thirty (30) timber piles will be 
performed by a diver who is certified as a professional engineer (the “P.E. Diver”). The P.E. Diver will 
conduct underwater inspections in coordination with other member(s) of the diving inspection team. 
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The underwater inspections will be coordinated with the General Contractor’s work schedule. Each pile 
will be inspected after cleaning and preparation, and again after they are fully wrapped. Additional 
inspections may be required, if/as necessary, to verify performance of corrective work and to confirm 
acceptability and approval. The selected Proposer will provide an appropriately skilled team of divers and 
tenders for each inspection. 

D. Meetings and Reporting  

1. The selected Proposer shall administer construction kick-off meetings and shall be responsible for the
prompt preparation and distribution of meeting minutes. 

2. On a daily basis, the selected Proposer shall prepare reports reflecting daily activities, including but not
limited to: daily logs of the General Contractors’ staffing and hours on-site, weather, deliveries, disposals, 
special occurrences, photo documentation of work, pre-construction conditions, job progress, contractor 
equipment, material testing, and work performed and completed. The selected Proposer shall submit daily 
Project Management reports that reflect such information via email to BPCA’s Project Manager, who is 
responsible for managing the particular Construction Project. Daily reports shall also be retained on site 
and be readily available to BPCA. 

3. On a weekly basis, the selected Proposer shall schedule and conduct a weekly job progress meeting
with BPCA and any other relevant parties (as identified by BPCA) in order to provide updates, address 
BPCA’s concerns, describe logistics surrounding the Project, and monitor the Construction Project 
schedule. The selected Proposer shall be responsible for the prompt preparation and distribution of 
meeting minutes each week in advance of the following progress meeting.  

4. On a monthly basis, the selected Proposer shall issue a monthly Construction Project Report, which
shall include a full description of the status of all aspects of the Construction Projects, including but not 
limited to: a brief narrative of the work status and level of completion, an assessment of whether 
construction targets will be met, an update on any anticipated delays or issues, project financial status and 
cost estimates, and tracking reports. The selected Proposer shall also conduct a monthly review of the 
General Contractors’ budgets and expenditures and shall include such information in the Monthly 
Construction Project Summary Report. 

E. Post- Construction & Close-out 

1. The selected Proposer shall provide close-out services for the three (3) Construction Projects. The
selected Proposer shall submit all Construction Project records, inspection reports, and a final 
Construction Project summary to BPCA at the time of each Construction Project’s completion. 

2. The selected Proposer shall determine substantial completion of the Construction Projects’ Work and
coordinate punch-list inspections. 

3. The selected Proposer shall conduct final Construction Project inspections and approvals, and issue
work acceptance certificates. 

*** 



Distributed to: All prospective Proposers 

ATTACHMENT #2A 
SUPPLEMENT TO EXHIBIT B-1: PIER A WINDOWS & DOORS 

PROJECT – PROJECT SCHEDULE & COST 

SCHEDULE 
The Pier A Windows & Doors Project’s anticipated duration is between seven (7) and nine (9) 
months. This Project is projected to start in March 2024, and is projected to be completed by 
November 2024.  

COST 
The anticipated construction cost for this Project is $1,316,080. 

ATTACHMENT #2B 
SUPPLEMENT TO EXHIBIT B-2: PIER A RAILINGS PROJECT – 

PROJECT SCHEDULE & COST 

SCHEDULE 
The Pier A Railings Project’s anticipated duration is between seven (7) months. This Project is 
projected start in March 2024, and is projected to be completed by September 2024.  

COST 
The anticipated construction cost for this Project is $1,495,000. 

ATTACHMENT #2C 
SUPPLEMENT TO EXHIBIT B-3: STRUCTURAL REPAIRS - PHASE II PROJECT 

– PROJECT SCHEDULE & COST

SCHEDULE 
Provided in Exhibit B-3 of the RFP. 

COST 
The anticipated construction cost for this Project is $3,500,000. 
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ATTACHMENT #3 
EXHIBIT E-3: FORM OF BID BREAKDOWN 

FOR DIVING INSPECTIONS 

TITLE/FUNCTION LOADED 
HOURLY RATE 

Project Manager 
Diver 1 
Diver 2 

Dive Team Leader 
Resident Engineer 

Tender 
Alternate Diver 

Alternate Tender 
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ATTACHMENT #4A 
PIER A CM PROJECT – 

PRE-PROPOSAL MEETING 
ATTENDEE LIST 

(ATTACHED) 
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ATTACHMENT #4B 
 PIER A CM PROJECT – 
SITE WALKTHROUGH  

ATTENDEE LIST 

(ATTACHED) 








